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(Excerpts from: The Goodspeed Opera House, Fast Haddam, Connecticut. 1963
Prenared for the Goodspced Overa Houce roundation, Lnc., by rred van Mame) "
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Tons before the Opera House was a reality, ..illiam Coodspeed/had made ,
his mark as a successful merchant, banker, shiobuilder, hotel owner, Steem-§
boat and railroad tycoon... Mis father, Joseph, was a descendant of one of
the area's earliest settlers and operated a general store at Goodspeed's
Landing on the Commecticut River. Succeeding to his father's business at
an early are, young William lost little time in expanding the family en-
terprises - hehad the "idas" touch, coupled with vision far beyond his
time... In “he early 1870's, Goodspeed's reneral store housed the offices
f his shipbuildineg concern as well as the old Hartford & Wew York Steam-
boat Tine. Tt was a modest buildine on the river front and had sufficed
for years, but 'iilliam H. had outrrowm the cramped surroundings. £ larger
more imposing building took forma in his mind: a multi-purpose building
with the dual advantages of servin~ both the river and the land traffic...
Tn any event, the old building was torn down and the ground prepared for
a new undertalking, modestly to be called Goodspeed's Hall. The man not
only had an astute business mind, he also had considerable civic pride.
He believed in Zast Haddam and had visions of making it a thriving, impor-
tant center of commercial and cultural development...
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Thus, in the Centennial year of the United States, the present build-
ing with its Opera House caie into being. tone for the bastion-like
foundation wes quarried from the ledses near the eastern anproach to the
present Zast Yaddan bridge. Jebez Comstock, a master builder from Hadlyme,
was selected as general contractor; Charles Arnolgl, of Haddam WNeck, be-
came construction superintendent. Started early in 1876, it took 18
months to complete sufficiently so its inausural could be stared on Octo-
ver 2, 1877. A dockhouse, or basement, on the river side provided ample
room for the passenger and freiecht service of the river steamers. The
oriminal bar was conveniently located on this level, directly beneath the
present Victorian serpentine bar included in the olan of restoration. The
street floor was primarily for commercial use; here, the Gnodspeeds main-
tained their spacious general storg/where travelers and tovmspeople alike
could buy most anything, domestic or imvorted, from food to fancy clothes,
or rom a packet of pins to cumbersome fam implements. The brothers'
officeg/were adjacent to the store, comandine a view of the river. There
were various business and professional offices on the second floor and an
actors! dressine room. The two upper floors were given over to the thea-
tre auditorium. It was an impressive building, rising six flights above
the riverside landing and four stories above the street entrance; it was
then, and is today, the tallcst wooden structure along the LOO-mile shore-
front of the Connecticut River.
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Tt was the day of ornate, elaborately decorated "saloons" on the
larger type of river steamers and Xr. Goodspeed decided to furnish his
Opera House in much the same manner, though slightly more restrained.
The boxes, the hanging horseshoe balcony s spended only by slender rods,
the proscenium — all featured eold-leafed rococo desirms with delicately
painted medallions of women's heads spacec at intervals on the forward

(contd.)
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T.a face of the balcony... The boxes were-half eﬁ%;&é&d into the original stage
apron, affording an enviable closeup éfféhe BEtors. A
w T e
At Coodspeed Opera House, the drop cuftaih set the atmosvhere. Painted
by a well known set designer, John A. Thompson of New York, it depicted the
steamer "State of New York", larsest and costliest steamer of the Line, up-
ward bound, passing Clark's Creek just below Zast Haddam. It was hung in
such a manner that the audience might imarine they were looking through the
wall of the building to the river itself, with the hills and farmsteads of
Haddam and Chester beyond... This was no ordinary country playhouse; Good-
speed spared no expense in providing the finest entertaimment available.
Entire shows were brousht from Broadway to Zast Haddam, often for just a
one-night stand. As general manager of the steamboat company this pre-
sented no problem to Goodspeed and it was reliably revorted that the troupes
thoroughly enjoyed the excursion...

When Goodspeed died, in 188@; his cherished Opera House was draved in
black and the community felt it had lost one of its most valued members...
After his death, various attempts were made to continue the Opera House on
the same lavish scale it had enjoyed previously; but one element oi success
was missing: the master promoter, the entrepreneur... There were minstrel
shows, amateur theatricals, costume balls in the 90's, but its fortunes
went into slow decline... The last use of the auditorium for public enter-
tainment was in 192qg less than a year later, Tire safety lepislation made
further use of the place impossible without a vast outlay for fire escapes
and other forms of mandatory protection. Yet, for more than a decade after-
wards, offices were used on the second floor and the general store down-
stairs continued in business. From then on, the building was used princi-
pally for storage purposes... In 1943, the State of Connecticut acquired
the Opera House and L.38 acres of land from the New Haven Railroad for
3l,000. Shortly thereafter, the balconies and the east and west facades
were removed, as well as the veranda overlooking the river. State Highway
trucks were garaged there and miscellaneous equipment stored in various
rooms on the street level. The floor above was used for filing records,
blue prints, topographical charts and other data comnected with highway
operations. The building was utilized in this mamner during Yorld Viar TT
and finally fell into disuse.

Tarly in 1952, a rumor that the old Opera House might be dismantled
and completely leveled before the end of the year brought a resurgence of
interest in the landmark... The combined effort of those vitally interested
in saving the Opera House bore fruit... To this end, The Goodsveed Overa
Touse Foundation became a cornorate, non-orofit entity in August 159...
The goal of the Foundation was twofold: to restore the Overa House as faith-
fully as vpossible and to reactivate the playhouse as a year 'round opera-
tion - not just a summer theatre on the "straw hat circuit." Vork on the
restoration gobt under way in July, 196Qf.. Frederic Palmey, who designed
the reconstruction of the interior of the Opera louse, in collaboration with
H. Sare Goodwin of the firm of Schutz & Goodwigb architects, of Hartford,

(contd.)
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never deviated fram the original concent of restoring the auditorium and
the exterior as faithfully as possible to their former elegance. The thea-
tre itself is a gem of architectural accomplishment and decorating genius...
As a concession to modern theatre requirements, a sunken orchestra pit was
included in the restoration plan and a projection booth installed at the
rear of the balcony. So-called creature comforts have not been overlooked;
the theatre has modern heating facilities end, of course, air conditioning.
.+« The foyer and grand staircase, just inside the front doors, is a focal
point of this amazing restoration. Of course, the staircase did not exist
in Goodspeed!s time; it is the product of the designer's imaginative and
fertile mind. The inspiration stems from the lavish staircase treatment so
prevalent on the side-wheelers and steamers that churmed the river and
coastal waters a century ago... The overall effect of the Goodspeed audi-
torium, however, is that of the intimate European palace theatres of the
18th century. Their elaborate decoration was simulated here by the use of
available wallpaper borders and chromo-prints so popular in Victorian times,
The exterior of the Goodspeed Opera House is basically of late 18th century
design, but the neo-classic decoration is renlaced with restrained use of
ornaments produced on a jigsaw - that new mechanical invention in whose use
the Victorian builders reveled.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE Tl i

(% xcervts from: The Goodspeed Opera House, East Haddam, Connectlcut 1963
Prenared for the Goodspeed Jpera House Foundation, inc., by rred van Name)

Tn this inaugural year, 19563, marlinc- the restoration and reactiva-
tion of a famcus New England landmark of his making, we would like to
believe that illiam H. Goodspeed is sitting on a lofty perch somewhere
in Elysium musing over the splendor and grandeur with which his erstwhile
dream has been endowed. Unguestionably, his beneficent snririt will hover
over the building on successive opening nichts, as the Goodspeed Cpera
House re-establishes its claim to fame and rightful place in theatrical
history... 2y nid-century, his importance in the community made itself
felt to the point that his bank, of which he was a founder and later
nresident, issued bills engraved with a picture of the Goodspeed store,
the Coodspeed mansion, or both. In association with F. C. Fowler, he
controlled the ferry, which, until the present bridre was opened in 1913,
was the cnly resular connection with the west bank of the river... Young
Goodsneed was fired with ambition, constantly reaching for new worlds to
concuer. iith his brother Ceorge as nartner, he opened a shinbuilding
vard just south of the present Opera louse site. The first large full-
riceed ship built by the Goodspeed Brothers was the "Hero", launched in
1847 - and a sound ship it was, too... Recognized as renutable builders,
many inportant vessels were built at their yard in the ensuing years,
including the bark ship "Goodspeed", the first to bear the family name.
In 18561, when the Civil ar broke out, the Secretary of the U.S. Havy,
Cideon Vielles, wanted steam gunboats and he wanted them fast. The Yessrs.
Goodspeed accented the challenge and in 90 days delivered the USS XKanawha
to the YNew York Novy Yard; shortly thereafter she was put in commission
and saw service in the Gulf Squadron of ‘obile Bay. Govermmental orders
flowed in and to speed production of the wanted gunboats, the Goodsnceds
erployed as many as L0O men at one time, rccruited from the hills of
Bast Haddam and the surrounding areas...

Tt must be borne in mind that in Coodspeed's time the river steamers
constituted the principal mode of travel and Tast Haddam was an extremely
nopular sumer resort. In fact, in 187L, the town, with its 2, 951 popu-
lation, was rated as the largest comﬂu$ity in the entire lower Connectlcut
valley. leedless to say, this figure was considerably augmented during
the summer months... The Opera Fouse was the most notable of Goodspeed's
enternrises; in its hey-day, people cane Irom miles around, in carriages,
burgies, buckboards, two-seated surreys end farm wagons - and, in winter,
(contd.)
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by sleigh or skates over the river ice... Josh Billings, Henry 'lard Beecher,
Bloodgood's Minstrels, Tom VWhiffen and orators of the calibre of Joseph R.

Hawley, Orville Platt, Gov. llorgan C. Bulkley, Joseph L. Barbour - all played
Goodspeed!s.
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